

**3rd Edition** 

# Home Maintenance

dummies

A Wiley Brand

Keep the lights on and the water flowing

Protect your home from long-term problems

Find step-by-step tips for projects inside & out



Host of *The Money Pit Podcast* & Home Improvement Adventurer



## Home Maintenance





# Home Maintenance

3rd Edition

by Tom Kraeutler and James Carey and Morris Carey, Jr.



#### Home Maintenance For Dummies®, 3rd Edition

Published by: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 111 River Street, Hoboken, NJ 07030-5774, www.wiley.com

Copyright © 2024 by John Wiley & Sons, Inc. All rights reserved, including rights for text and data mining and training of artificial technologies or similar technologies.

Media and software compilation copyright © 2024 by John Wiley & Sons, Inc. All rights reserved, including rights for text and data mining and training of artificial technologies or similar technologies.

Published simultaneously in Canada

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, scanning or otherwise, except as permitted under Sections 107 or 108 of the 1976 United States Copyright Act, without the prior written permission of the Publisher. Requests to the Publisher for permission should be addressed to the Permissions Department, John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 111 River Street, Hoboken, NJ 07030, (201) 748–6011, fax (201) 748–6008, or online at http://www.wiley.com/go/permissions.

**Trademarks:** Wiley, For Dummies, the Dummies Man logo, Dummies.com, Making Everything Easier, and related trade dress are trademarks or registered trademarks of John Wiley & Sons, Inc. and may not be used without written permission. All other trademarks are the property of their respective owners. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. is not associated with any product or vendor mentioned in this book.

LIMIT OF LIABILITY/DISCLAIMER OF WARRANTY: THE PUBLISHER AND THE AUTHOR MAKE NO REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES WITH RESPECT TO THE ACCURACY OR COMPLETENESS OF THE CONTENTS OF THIS WORK AND SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIM ALL WARRANTIES, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION WARRANTIES OF FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. NO WARRANTY MAY BE CREATED OR EXTENDED BY SALES OR PROMOTIONAL MATERIALS. THE ADVICE AND STRATEGIES CONTAINED HEREIN MAY NOT BE SUITABLE FOR EVERY SITUATION. THIS WORK IS SOLD WITH THE UNDERSTANDING THAT THE PUBLISHER IS NOT ENGAGED IN RENDERING LEGAL, ACCOUNTING, OR OTHER PROFESSIONAL SERVICES. IF PROFESSIONAL ASSISTANCE IS REQUIRED, THE SERVICES OF A COMPETENT PROFESSIONAL PERSON SHOULD BE SOUGHT. NEITHER THE PUBLISHER NOR THE AUTHOR SHALL BE LIABLE FOR DAMAGES ARISING HEREFROM. THE FACT THAT AN ORGANIZATION OR WEBSITE IS REFERRED TO IN THIS WORK AS A CITATION AND/OR A POTENTIAL SOURCE OF FURTHER INFORMATION DOES NOT MEAN THAT THE AUTHOR OR THE PUBLISHER ENDORSES THE INFORMATION THE ORGANIZATION OR WEBSITE MAY PROVIDE OR RECOMMENDATIONS IT MAY MAKE. FURTHER, READERS SHOULD BE AWARE THAT INTERNET WEBSITES LISTED IN THIS WORK MAY HAVE CHANGED OR DISAPPEARED BETWEEN WHEN THIS WORK WAS WRITTEN AND WHEN IT IS READ.

For general information on our other products and services, please contact our Customer Care Department within the U.S. at 877-762-2974, outside the U.S. at 317-572-3993, or fax 317-572-4002. For technical support, please visit https://hub.wiley.com/community/support/dummies.

Wiley publishes in a variety of print and electronic formats and by print-on-demand. Some material included with standard print versions of this book may not be included in e-books or in print-on-demand. If this book refers to media that is not included in the version you purchased, you may download this material at http://booksupport.wiley.com. For more information about Wiley products, visit www.wiley.com.

Library of Congress Control Number: 2024940754

ISBN: 978-1-394-24107-1 (pbk); 978-1-394-24109-5 (ebk); 978-1-394-24108-8 (ebk)

## **Contents at a Glance**

Introduction	1
Part 1: Home Maintenance and You  CHAPTER 1: Home Maintenance: What It Is and Why It Matters  CHAPTER 2: Getting to Know Your House and Its Systems  CHAPTER 3: Creating Your Home Maintenance Plan	9 17
Part 2: The Energy Envelope  CHAPTER 4: Foundation and Floor Frame Fundamentals  CHAPTER 5: Roofing and Siding  CHAPTER 6: Windows, Exterior Doors, and Insulation	53 85
Part 3: Key Systems — Plumbing and HVAC (Heating, Ventilation, and Air Conditioning)  CHAPTER 7: Plumbing, Part I: Pipes, Water Heaters, Water Softeners, and More	
CHAPTER 9: Plumbing, Part III: Fixtures  CHAPTER 9: Plumbing, Part III: Sewer and Septic Systems  CHAPTER 10: Heating, Ventilating, and Air-Conditioning Systems	161 189
Part 4: Inside Home Sweet Home  CHAPTER 11: Walls and Ceilings.  CHAPTER 12: Floors and Interior Doors  CHAPTER 13: Cabinets and Countertops  CHAPTER 14: Appliances  CHAPTER 15: Don't Get Burned: Fireplaces  CHAPTER 16: Maintaining Your Home-Safety Systems	229 251 269 279
Part 5: Out in the Great Wide Open  CHAPTER 17: Walkways, Patios, and Driveways.  CHAPTER 18: Decks, Fences, and Retaining Walls.  CHAPTER 19: And Then There Was Rust.	325 343

Part 6: The Part of Tens	. 367
CHAPTER 20: Ten Cleaning Solutions You Can Make at Home	. 369
CHAPTER 21: Ten (or so) Maintenance Skills You Need	. 377
CHAPTER 22: Ten Smart Home Products to Revolutionize Your Living Space	. 387
Index	.393

## **Table of Contents**

<b>INTRO</b>	DUCTION	1
	About This Book.	1
	Conventions Used in This Book	2
	What You're Not to Read	2
	Foolish Assumptions	3
	How This Book Is Organized	
	Part 1: Home Maintenance and You	
	Part 2: The Energy Envelope	4
	Part 3: Key Systems — Plumbing and HVAC (Heating,	
	Ventilation, and Air Conditioning)	4
	Part 4: Inside Home Sweet Home	
	Part 5: Out in the Great Wide Open	
	Icons Used in This Book	
	Beyond the Book	
	Where to Go from Here	
	Where to do nominiere	0
PART 1	: HOME MAINTENANCE AND YOU	7
CHAPTER 1:	Home Maintenance: What It Is and	
	Why It Matters	9
	Keeping Up with Upkeep	.10
	From little to big	
	From inside to outside	.11
	Benefiting from a Little TLC	.12
	To your health (and safety)	.12
	Comfort: You'll miss it if it's gone	
	Money in the bank	
	Ready-Set-Go!	.15
CHAPTER 2:	Getting to Know Your House and Its Systems	. 17
	The Exterior: It's Nice to Fool Mother Nature	
	Your home's infrastructure: The foundation and floor frame	
	Roofing and siding: Your home's protective coat	
	Windows, exterior doors, and insulation	
	Walkways, patios, and driveways	
	Decks	
	Fences	
	Retaining walls	.22

	The Interior: Your Home's Insides	
	The plumbing system	
	The heating, cooling, and ventilating systems	
	Interior walls and ceilings	
	Floors and interior doors	
	Cabinets and countertops	
	Appliances	
	Fireplaces: Traditional and gas	
	Your home-safety systems	31
CHAPTER 3:	Creating Your Home Maintenance Plan	
	Creating Your What-to-Tackle List	
	Musts: Ensuring safety and health	
	Shoulds: Reducing costs and preventing problems	
	Coulds: Improving appearance and function	
	Putting together your maintenance plan	
	Setting a Smart Home-Maintenance Schedule	
	Things to do annually	
	Things to do seasonally	
	Things to do monthly	
	Shutting-down checklist	
	Other periodic maintenance tasks	
	Paying Attention to Safety	
	Wearing the right clothing and safety gear	
	Following safe work habits	
	Choosing DIY or Going Pro: Know When to Call for Backup $\dots$	
	Finding a pro	
	Getting a quote	
	Selecting a pro	49
PART 2	2: THE ENERGY ENVELOPE	51
CHADTER 4:	Foundation and Floor Frame Fundamentals	53
CHAITER 4.	Focusing on the Foundation	
	Types of foundations: Slabs, basements, and crawlspaces	
	Foundation materials	
	Fixing Common Foundation Problems.	
	Cracking the code of foundation cracks	
	Tackling spalling Is there a fungus among us? Dealing with efflorescence	
	Keeping Your Basement and Crawlspace Dry	
	Where basement leaks wait to happen: Start outside Freshening the air: Dealing with dehumidification	
	What to do if your basement floods	

	Tackling Squeaks and Slopes in the Floors	
	Getting on the level with your floors	
CHAPTER 5:	Roofing and Siding	85
	Understanding Your Roof: The Fifth Wall of Your Home  Staying safe on the roof	
	Cleanliness is next to godliness	
	Replacing an asphalt shingle	89
	Preserving a wood-shake or shingle roof	
	Exposing the naked truth about flashing	
	Stopping ice dams cold	
	Finding a roof leak	
	Getting Your Mind into the Gutter	
	Maintaining gutter-protection systems	
	Siding: A Raincoat to Keep You Dry	
	Vinyl siding	
	Stucco surface 'siding'	104
	Wood siding	
	Fiber cement siding	107
	Tibel cement siding	107
CHAPTER 6:	Windows, Exterior Doors, and Insulation	
CHAPTER 6:	Windows, Exterior Doors, and Insulation Saving Energy with Insulation	109
CHAPTER 6:	Windows, Exterior Doors, and Insulation	109 110 110
CHAPTER 6:	Windows, Exterior Doors, and Insulation  Saving Energy with Insulation	109 110 110
CHAPTER 6:	Windows, Exterior Doors, and Insulation  Saving Energy with Insulation	109 110 110 113
CHAPTER 6:	Windows, Exterior Doors, and Insulation  Saving Energy with Insulation	109 110 110 113 114
CHAPTER 6:	Windows, Exterior Doors, and Insulation  Saving Energy with Insulation  Demystifying insulation: Types and materials  Understanding R-values  Finding out where to add insulation around your house  Controlling air leaks in your ceilings, walls, and floors  Looking at Windows: See the Light, Feel the Cold	109 110 113 114 120 122
CHAPTER 6:	Windows, Exterior Doors, and Insulation  Saving Energy with Insulation  Demystifying insulation: Types and materials  Understanding R-values  Finding out where to add insulation around your house  Controlling air leaks in your ceilings, walls, and floors  Looking at Windows: See the Light, Feel the Cold  Dealing with water and air leaks	109 110 113 114 120 122
CHAPTER 6:	Windows, Exterior Doors, and Insulation  Saving Energy with Insulation  Demystifying insulation: Types and materials  Understanding R-values  Finding out where to add insulation around your house  Controlling air leaks in your ceilings, walls, and floors  Looking at Windows: See the Light, Feel the Cold	109 110 113 114 120 122 122
CHAPTER 6:	Windows, Exterior Doors, and Insulation  Saving Energy with Insulation	109 110 113 114 120 122 122 125
CHAPTER 6:	Windows, Exterior Doors, and Insulation  Saving Energy with Insulation  Demystifying insulation: Types and materials.  Understanding R-values.  Finding out where to add insulation around your house.  Controlling air leaks in your ceilings, walls, and floors.  Looking at Windows: See the Light, Feel the Cold.  Dealing with water and air leaks.  Preventing condensation.  Maintaining storm windows  Maintaining screens  Buying new windows	109110113114120122125125126129
CHAPTER 6:	Windows, Exterior Doors, and Insulation  Saving Energy with Insulation.  Demystifying insulation: Types and materials.  Understanding R-values.  Finding out where to add insulation around your house.  Controlling air leaks in your ceilings, walls, and floors.  Looking at Windows: See the Light, Feel the Cold.  Dealing with water and air leaks.  Preventing condensation.  Maintaining storm windows.  Maintaining screens.  Buying new windows  Looking at window installation styles.	109110113114120122125125126129131
CHAPTER 6:	Windows, Exterior Doors, and Insulation  Saving Energy with Insulation.  Demystifying insulation: Types and materials.  Understanding R-values.  Finding out where to add insulation around your house.  Controlling air leaks in your ceilings, walls, and floors.  Looking at Windows: See the Light, Feel the Cold.  Dealing with water and air leaks.  Preventing condensation.  Maintaining storm windows  Maintaining screens.  Buying new windows  Looking at window installation styles.  Getting In and Out: Maintaining Exterior Doors.	109110113120122125125126129131
CHAPTER 6:	Windows, Exterior Doors, and Insulation  Saving Energy with Insulation.  Demystifying insulation: Types and materials.  Understanding R-values.  Finding out where to add insulation around your house.  Controlling air leaks in your ceilings, walls, and floors.  Looking at Windows: See the Light, Feel the Cold.  Dealing with water and air leaks.  Preventing condensation.  Maintaining storm windows.  Maintaining streens.  Buying new windows  Looking at window installation styles.  Getting In and Out: Maintaining Exterior Doors.  Fixing leaks between the threshold and door bottom.	109110113120122125125126129131131
CHAPTER 6:	Windows, Exterior Doors, and Insulation  Saving Energy with Insulation  Demystifying insulation: Types and materials.  Understanding R-values.  Finding out where to add insulation around your house.  Controlling air leaks in your ceilings, walls, and floors.  Looking at Windows: See the Light, Feel the Cold.  Dealing with water and air leaks.  Preventing condensation.  Maintaining storm windows.  Maintaining storm windows.  Buying new windows.  Looking at window installation styles.  Getting In and Out: Maintaining Exterior Doors.  Fixing leaks between the threshold and door bottom.  Stopping air leaks with weatherstripping and sealant.	109110113120122125125126129131131
CHAPTER 6:	Windows, Exterior Doors, and Insulation  Saving Energy with Insulation.  Demystifying insulation: Types and materials.  Understanding R-values.  Finding out where to add insulation around your house.  Controlling air leaks in your ceilings, walls, and floors.  Looking at Windows: See the Light, Feel the Cold.  Dealing with water and air leaks.  Preventing condensation.  Maintaining storm windows.  Maintaining streens.  Buying new windows  Looking at window installation styles.  Getting In and Out: Maintaining Exterior Doors.  Fixing leaks between the threshold and door bottom.	109110113120122125125126131131132132

	3: KEY SYSTEMS — PLUMBING AND HVAC	
(HEATI	ING, VENTILATION, AND AIR CONDITIONING)	135
CHAPTER 7:	Plumbing, Part I: Pipes, Water Heaters,	
	Water Softeners, and More	137
	Essential Plumbing Preparedness! Turning Off Your Main Water Valve	120
	Replacing a Damaged Section of Pipe	
	Why water pipes leak	
	How to repair leaks in copper pipes	
	How to repair a copper pipe with PEX	
	Protecting Pipes in Frigid Weather	
	Using an ounce of prevention	
	Applying quick fixes for burst pipes	
	Quieting Noisy Water Pipes	
	Adjusting excessively-high water pressure	
	Some Like It Hot: Checking Out Your Water Heater	
	Maintaining your water heater	
	Preventing "Shower Shock!" Dealing with sudden blasts	
	of cold water	
	Maintaining your gas water heater	
	Caring for your tankless water heater	
	Softening Your Water	
	Wishing Your Well Is Working Well	
	Plumbing, Part II: Fixtures	161
CHAPTER 8:	<u> </u>	101
	Maintaining Fixture Surfaces: Stainless Steel, Cast Iron, Fiberglass, and More	161
	Stainless-steel fixtures	
	Porcelain-on-steel and porcelain-on-cast-iron fixtures	162
	Fiberglass fixtures	
	Composite fixtures	
	Vitreous china fixtures	
	Cleaning Your Faucet Works	
	Cleaning and polishing the outside of a faucet	
	Removing copper residue	
	Toilet Training 101	
	Toilet running? Here's how to catch it!	
	Cleaning the toilet	
	Unclogging toilets	
	Preventing a sweaty tank	173 174
	LOOKING TOLLEAKS IN AND ALOUND THE TOLLET	1/4

	Maintaining Tubs and Showers	179
	Keeping your tubs and showers clean	180
	Cleaning and adjusting glass shower doors	180
	Keeping Your Tile Terrific	181
	Sealing out grout grunge	182
	Cleaning grubby grout	182
	Staining grubby grout	183
	Replacing grout	
	Replacing a broken tile	
	Re-caulking tubs and showers	187
CHAPTER 9:	Plumbing, Part III: Sewer and Septic Systems	189
	Uncovering Sewer-System Basics	
	Keeping Your System Clog-Free	
	Being careful what you put down the drain	
	Doing preventive pipe cleaning	
	A word about commercial drain cleaners	
	Dealing with drains that stink	193
	Unclogging the Waste Lines	194
	Keeping Vents Free from Debris	195
	Getting rid of blockages	196
	Putting preventive measures in place	196
	Avoiding Problems with P-Traps	
	Determining Your Sewer System's Fall	
	Maintaining Your Septic System	
	Being careful about what goes in	
	Cleaning and pumping your septic tank	201
CHAPTER 10	Heating, Ventilating, and Air-Conditioning	
	Systems	203
	Making Friends with the Monster: Your Furnace or Boiler	204
	Identifying the types of heating systems	
	Looking at forced-air heating systems	
	Looking at hot-water heating systems	211
	Looking at steam heating systems	214
	Looking at electric heating systems	216
	Ventilation: Letting Your House Breathe	217
	Locating interior ventilation	217
	Pointing out structural ventilation	
	Big or Small, an Air Conditioner Cools Y'all	
	Maintaining a central air-conditioning system	
	How to test a central air conditioner	
	Choosing a mini-split ductless air conditioner	
	Choosing a window air-conditioning unit	225

CHAPTER 11: Walls and Ceilings	PART 4: INSIDE HOME SWEET HOME	227
Dealing with Drywall Repairing small cracks	CHAPTER 11: Walls and Ceilings	229
Dealing with Drywall Repairing small cracks	Cleaning Walls and Ceilings	229
Repairing small cracks		
Filling bigger cracks		
Filling holes like a pro	·	
Tackling truss uplift	9 99	
Putting the stop on nail pops		
Plastering: More Trouble than You May Want		
Dealing with sagging and other big problems		
Dealing with sagging and other big problems	Fixing small cracks and holes	237
Interior Painting: Doing the Job Right		
Gathering your paint and painting supplies		
Painting made easy	Prepping makes perfect	238
Cleaning up right	Gathering your paint and painting supplies	241
Storing leftover paint and making it last	Painting made easy	243
Making Paneling Look Like New	Cleaning up right	245
Wondering about Wallpaper	Storing leftover paint and making it last	246
Removing wallpaper	Making Paneling Look Like New	247
Fixing loose seams and clean tears	Wondering about Wallpaper	247
Patching wallpaper		
CHAPTER 12: Floors and Interior Doors  What's Underfoot? Flooring		
What's Underfoot? Flooring	Patching wallpaper	249
Vanquishing vinyl trouble	CHAPTER 12: Floors and Interior Doors	251
Vanquishing vinyl trouble	What's Underfoot? Flooring	251
Loving laminate		
Repairing ceramic tile		
Keeping hardwood happy		
Going for engineered hardwood		
Dealing with Interior Doors		
Mastering common door-maintenance tasks	Keeping carpet clean	258
Working with different types of doors	Dealing with Interior Doors	261
Turning knobs, locking locks, and latching latches	Mastering common door-maintenance tasks	262
CHAPTER 13: Cabinets and Countertops	Working with different types of doors	264
Cleaning Kitchen Cabinets	Turning knobs, locking locks, and latching latches	265
Cleaning Kitchen Cabinets	CHAPTER 13: Cabinets and Countertops	269
Something Old Is Something New: Refinishing Your Cabinets		
Getting your cabinets ready for refinishing		
Steps for cabinet painting perfection272		

C	Counter Intelligence: Cleaning and Caring for Your Countertops	274
	Cleaning tile countertops and backsplashes	
	Caring for super solid surfaces	
C	Countertop Conversions: Transforming Your Old Countertop nto a Stone, Granite, or Marble Masterpiece	
ir	nto a Stone, Granite, or Marble Masterpiece	277
CHAPTER 14:	Appliances	. 279
S	Safety First	279
	Keeping your gas appliances safe	
	Staying safe when using your electric appliances	
C	Caring for Your Cooktop	
	Cleaning up the cooking crud	
	Maintaining your electric range and cooktop	
	Keeping your gas range and cooktop in tip-top shape	283
C	Opening the Door and Rolling Up Your Sleeves: The Oven	284
	Cleaning your oven	285
	Checking the oven temperature control	288
	Replacing the oven light	289
C	Cleaning Your Range Hood	289
N	Microwave Maintenance	289
C	Cleaning Your Dishwasher	291
C	Cleaning Your Fridge and Freezer	
	Taking care of the condenser coils	292
	Cleaning the gasket	
	Keeping the interior clean and fresh-smelling	
	Maintaining inline water filtration	
P	Prolonging the Life of Your Washer and Dryer	
	Cleaning your washing machine	
	Keeping your dryer's lint traps lint free	
	Taking care of the dryer vent	
	Knowing what to do when the dryer suddenly stops	296
CHAPTER 15:	Don't Get Burned: Fireplaces	. 299
K	Keeping Your Fireplace Clean and Safe	300
	Staying on Top of Fireplace Cracks	
	Dealing with the Damper	303
	Caring for the Outside of Your Chimney	
	Maintaining the flashing and flue pipe	
	Sealing and protecting brick chimneys	
	Arresting sparks and other hazards	
C	Cleaning a Soot-Covered Brick Fireplace Face	
	Making the Most out of Glass Doors and Screens	
	Cleaning glass fireplace doors	
	Giving sluggish glass doors a pick-me-up	
	Screening out sparks	

CHAPTER 16: Maintaining Your Home-Safety Systems	. 311
Using Smart Strategies for Fire Prevention Shopping for smoke detectors Choosing the right fire extinguisher Preventing Carbon-Monoxide Poisoning Maintaining carbon-monoxide detectors Spotting sources of carbon monoxide Keeping Your Natural-Gas Line Safe. Shining a Light on Electrical Safety Avoiding Shocks and Sparks Maintaining Your Burglar Alarm Navigating the Ups and Downs of Automatic Garage-Door Opener Safety	.312 .313 .314 .315 .316 .316 .318 .318
PART 5: OUT IN THE GREAT WIDE OPEN	. 323
CHAPTER 17: Walkways, Patios, and Driveways  Cementing Your Relationship with Concrete  Cleaning off grease and oil stains.  Cleaning up mildew.  Patching cracks  Sealing concrete.  Painting your concrete  Resurfacing deteriorated concrete  Repairing concrete steps  Getting Things on an Even Keel.  Leveling settled brick patios and walkways.  Leveling and resetting stone paths.  Sealing an asphalt driveway.  Mastering Masonry Maintenance: Cleaning, Repair, and Sealing  Dealing with stress cracks  Cleaning your masonry.  Applying a sealer	.326 .327 .329 .331 .333 .334 .337 .338 .340 .340 .341
CHAPTER 18: Decks, Fences, and Retaining Walls  Preserving Wood  Painting.  Applying a preservative  Staining.  Cleaning Your Wood Structures  Pressure-washing.  Using a wood brightener	.344 .345 .346 .348 .349

Tightening Loose Rails, Fence Boards, and Fence Posts	
Straightening Sagging Gates	
Termite Troubles: Keeping Your House Off the Menu	
Extending the Life of a Wood Retaining Wall	356
And Their Their Wee Dust	
CHAPTER 19: And Then There Was Rust	
Painting Tactics to Defeat Rust	
Choosing your primer and topcoat	
Applying the paint	
Stripping Off Rust	
Step 1: Removing rusted fasteners	
Step 2: Getting rid of the rust	
Step 3: Repairing damage to the surface	
When All Else Fails: Converting Rust	365
PART 6: THE PART OF TENS	267
PART 0. THE PART OF TENS	. 307
CHAPTER 20: Ten Cleaning Solutions You Can	
Make at Home	. 369
All-Purpose, Handy-Dandy Cleaner	
DIY Cleanser Scrub	
Gentle Glass Cleaner	
Natural Carpet Freshener	
People-Friendly Oven Cleaner	
Super-Duper Disinfectant Cleaner	
Cola Concrete Stain Remover	
Easy All-Surface Mildew Remover	
Foamy Drain Freshener and Cleaner	374
Universal Roof-Cleaning Formula	374
CHAPTER 21: Ten (or so) Maintenance Skills You Need	. 377
Caulking	
Knowing How (and What) to Lubricate	
Recognizing and Testing for Problems	
Choosing the Right Tool for the Job	
Knowing Your Valves	
Painting	
Knowing How to Shut Things Off	
Venting Moisture from Your Home	
Replacing Filters and Cleaning Sensors	
Checking On the Chimney	
Tackling 10 Home Maintenance Tasks in Under 10 Minutes Each.	385

CHAPTER 22: Ten Smart Home Products to Revolutionize	
Your Living Space	387
Smart Speakers	388
Smart Thermostats	388
Smart Lighting	388
Smart Door Locks	389
Smart Home Security Systems	389
Smart Plugs	390
Smart Water Valves	390
Smart Home Battery Solutions	390
Smart Heating and Cooling Systems	
Smart Appliances	391
INDEX	393

### Introduction

our home is like a superhero in your life, the caped crusader against decay, pests, and everyday wear and tear. It's your fortress, and it deserves all the love and protection you can give it! It's also the largest investment that you'll ever make in your life. So, it makes good sense to do everything you can to maintain it.

In addition to protecting the structural integrity of your home, regular maintenance will make it more comfortable, safer, and more energy efficient. And don't forget that a well-cared-for home stands out in the neighborhood, and that's worth something — a bigger price tag when it comes time to sell, or simply the satisfaction of knowing that you're in charge of your home and not vice versa.

Get ready for a rollercoaster ride of home-maintenance fun. Buckle up as we dive into the world of preserving your castle's integrity, boosting comfort and energy efficiency, and standing tall in the neighborhood with a well-cared-for abode.

Home Maintenance For Dummies, 3rd Edition, is your trusty sidekick, packed with tips and tricks to keep your home shining like a beacon of pride and satisfaction. Enjoy the adventure!

#### **About This Book**

Like most *For Dummies* books, *Home Maintenance For Dummies*, 3rd Edition, is a reference, meaning that it was written with the expectation that you would *not* read it from cover to cover over a couple of sittings. Instead, consider it one of the most important reference tools in your home–maintenance arsenal — like your prized hammer or power drill that you pick up and use whenever necessary.

Each chapter is divided into sections, and each section offers instructions on a different home maintenance task, like

- >> How to fix those pesky floor squeaks
- What to do when you know you've got a leak but you don't know where it's coming from

- >> What cleaning solution is the best for removing mildew
- >> How to easily maintain those confusing machines that keep you comfortable, like your furnace, boiler, air conditioner, and water heater
- How to prevent a flooded basement and how to fix it if your last fix didn't work
- >> How to reduce your energy costs while improving your comfort all at once
- >> How to decide whether to do it yourself or hire a contractor

Who needs this book? Everyone — no matter if your home is new or, like mine, was built in the last century! Seriously, if your home is an apartment, condo, single-family house, flat, co-op, cave, or hut; if you rent, own, or borrow; if your habitat is old, new, or somewhere in between, this book is for you.

#### **Conventions Used in This Book**

To help you navigate through this book and make maintenance as easy as possible, I've set up a few conventions:

- >> Italics are used for emphasis and to highlight new words or terms that I define.
- >> Boldface indicates the actionable part of numbered steps.

In addition to these standard conventions, whenever a task takes more than a few tools, I'll provide a list so that you can gather everything you need before you start to work.

#### What You're Not to Read

This book is written so that you can easily find information and easily understand what you find. And although I'd like to believe that you want to pore over every last word between the two yellow-and-black covers, I actually make it easy for you to identify skippable material — the stuff that, although interesting and related to the topic at hand, isn't essential for you to know. This text appears in *sidebars*, which are the shaded boxes that appear here and there throughout the book. They share personal stories and observations, but they aren't necessary reading.

#### **Foolish Assumptions**

You know what they say about the word assume. In any event, I've made the following assumptions about you:

- You care about the appearance and condition of your home and, hence, its value.
- >> You're not a home-improvement fanatic, nor are you particularly handy you don't need to be.
- >> You have a song in your heart, a smile on your face, and an insatiable desire to see your home be the best that it can be.
- >> You don't have a warehouse full of tools and you're interested in getting only the tools you need. A few tools are of infinite value when it comes to home maintenance. However, the most complicated tool that you'll need is a cordless drill/driver for sinking a screw here and there. The tools that you'll find yourself needing most often are a scrub brush, a paintbrush, and plenty of patience.
- >> You're the type who always seeks help when needed and always puts safety first when attempting a home-maintenance endeavor.

#### **How This Book Is Organized**

The chapters of this book are divided into the following parts so that you can easily find just the information that you're looking for.

#### Part 1: Home Maintenance and You

This part introduces you to the benefits of home maintenance and to the major systems and components in your home. You can also find a series of lists to help you keep your home-maintenance tasks organized. Follow this schedule, and your home will love you for it.

Even though you don't have to read this book from cover to cover, I strongly recommend that you check out the three chapters in this part so that you have a clear understanding of what parts of your home require maintenance and why you should pay attention to them.

#### Part 2: The Energy Envelope

Your home's envelope consists of all its exterior surfaces and associated components like windows and doors. And don't forget the attic, roof, basement, and foundation. For you to be comfortable inside your home, its exterior must be secure and in sound condition. Turn to this part to discover how easily you can maintain your home's exterior.

## Part 3: Key Systems — Plumbing and HVAC (Heating, Ventilation, and Air Conditioning)

Nothing is scarier than hearing a noise that wasn't there before emanating from mechanical equipment: a popping sound in the water heater, a faucet that suddenly sounds like it's running on a flat tire, or a screeching racket inside the deepest, darkest part of your furnace. If you want to prevent or repair these elements of your home, check out this part.

#### Part 4: Inside Home Sweet Home

This part contains information on the stuff that you come into contact with on a day-to-day basis within your home, such as the walls, ceilings, floors, interior doors, cabinets, countertops, and appliances, to name a few. If you never venture into another part of this book, and you accomplish most of the tasks contained in this part, you'll be light-years ahead of the home-maintenance curve. Part 4 helps you patch walls, quiet floors, unstick doors, cure cabinet woes, and fix fire-places. And, as an added bonus, you'll find out how to keep your home and yourself safe and secure. If this book could be compared to a meal, this part would definitely be the main course.

#### Part 5: Out in the Great Wide Open

If Part 4 contains all the stuff that you see everyday *in* your home, Part 5 is all about what you (and others) can see *outside* your home, such as walkways, paths, patios, decks, and driveways. Think that the interior of your home takes a beating? Consider the abuse that your wood deck, concrete patio, or metal porch railing is subject to from constant exposure to sunlight, rain, wind, and snow. Wood oxidizes, cups, and cracks; concrete expands, contracts, chips, and cracks; and metal can become a full-blown science experiment when covered with rust. For-

tunately, Part 5 is chock-full of money-saving and time-tested tips and recipes that will tame even the most ferocious home-maintenance predator in your great wide open.

#### Part 6: The Part of Tens

In this part, you'll find ten cleaning solutions you can make yourself. Not only will these recipes save you all kinds of money, but you'll actually know what's in the products you're using. You'll also find out about the ten home-maintenance skills you need to keep your home in tip-top shape, plus ten smart home products that I think will add value and convenience to your home ownership experience.

#### Icons Used in This Book

Some information in this book is so important that it's emphasized by placing little pictures (called *icons*) next to certain points. Here's what the icons mean:



This icon flags text that's important and not to be forgotten.



The Tip icon represents your basic good idea or trick-of-the-trade. It's what you wish somebody told you before you found out the hard way. I'm that somebody.

TIP



Kidding aside for this icon. I use this icon to steer you clear of things *not* to do! It points out dangers and health hazards you should be aware of.

#### **Beyond the Book**

In addition to the pages you're reading right now, this book comes with a free access-anywhere cheat sheet that offers a number of home-maintenance-related pearls of wisdom. To get this cheat sheet, visit www.dummies.com and type home maintenance for dummies cheat sheet in the Search box.

#### Where to Go from Here

This book is organized so that you can go wherever you want to find complete information. Did your roof spring a leak? Head to Chapter 5. Need to replace a toilet? Chapter 8 is for you. If you're not sure where you want to go, you can start with Part One — it gives you all the basic info you need, including vital safety guidelines and a home-maintenance plan to follow; plus, it points you to places where you can find more detailed information. You can also use the index to look up specific topics or the table of contents for broader categories. Or, simply let your fingers do the walking until you find a topic that inspires you, and let the games begin! This book makes for great armor — just don't get it wet!

# Home Maintenance and You

#### IN THIS PART . . .

See why maintenance matters to your health and your wallet.

Get a handle on how your house systems work, and how to keep them working.

Put together a workable home maintenance plan.

- » Making your home a safer and more comfortable place to live
- » Enhancing your home's value
- » Saving money on repairs and energy

## Chapter **1**

# Home Maintenance: What It Is and Why It Matters

grew up in a house that was built by my great-grandfather way back in 1886, and I'm proud to say that it's where my wife and I raised three children and still call home today. Luckily for me, my ancestors must have been pretty handy over the years, taking on painting, plumbing, roofing, and a billion other tasks. Or so it seemed.

However, maintenance is not reserved for older homes. Home maintenance should begin the day the house is completed and continue for as long as the structure exists. But please don't think that you've signed up for years of drudgery. Home maintenance needs shift by house age, and modern building materials perform better than those used in years past. In this chapter, I show you how home maintenance can be fast, easy, and even fun — and how it can save you money in the long run.

#### **Keeping Up with Upkeep**

Some homeowners think of maintenance as a challenge, something to take on, overcome, and, with luck, complete. Some see it as a learning experience, looking to master new skills and, in the process, improve their home. Some get into the Zen of it, finding enlightenment in knowing — and truly understanding — the inner workings of their dwellings. And some focus on the bottom line, seeing maintenance as the preservation and enhancement of their huge home investment. Most just want their homes to look nice and work well.

Personally, I find home maintenance projects to be good therapy, minus the therapist and comfy couch. Completing always leaves me with a sense of accomplishment. If that's you, pull up an empty spackle bucket and sit yourself down for an enjoyable read about the world of home maintenance.

#### From little to big

As you approach maintenance, you have to stay on top of your to-do list to keep little problems from becoming big trouble. It's smart to keep everything looking good, and keeping your home's systems working efficiently also makes financial sense.



Maintenance is not about big, time-consuming, and expensive projects. In fact, one of the most effective and worthwhile tasks — painting a room — requires only a couple of gallons of paint, a \$15 brush, and a \$5 paint roller. Changing the furnace filter takes two minutes. Caulking a drafty window frame is a five-minute, \$5 job. Doing these little things, and doing them continuously or as needed, makes a huge difference in the appearance, comfort, and efficiency of your home.

Over time, there will be more little projects than big ones. My advice: Do the little ones yourself. Most of them are easy to do. You'll save money, your home will look and work better, and you'll feel as though you've accomplished something. You'll also build skills as you go and become more empowered to take on larger jobs.

Medium-size projects — like adjusting a sticking exterior door or replacing a toilet — need to be evaluated on a case-by-case basis. To decide whether to do them yourself or hire a pro, ask yourself these questions:

- >> Do I have the right skills and knowledge?
- >> Do I have the necessary tools?
- >> Do I have the time?

If you have to say no to any one of these questions, you need to think hard before taking on the job. You may be better off hiring a pro.

Which brings us to the big projects, things like replacing the roof, leveling a floor, or pouring a new driveway. Unless you have some really awesome skills, solid experience, and know-how, as well as a workshop full of tools, hiring a pro is best. You may think you know how to build a deck, even if you've never done it before. However, there are people who build decks every day, people who know how to do the job right. It's worth the cost of hiring a contractor to be satisfied with the end product.

Many of the folks who listen to my *Money Pit* radio show or podcast are homeowners who've taken on projects that are way beyond their expertise, require the purchase of expensive tools, and take much longer than expected. And they're not calling to share how wonderful the projects have gone. They need help putting things back together or advice on how to find someone who can get the monkeys off their backs, so to speak. Don't get caught in this trap. Be smart. Know your limitations.



I once had a caller to my show ask for help with a plumbing project — after his fifth trip to the hardware store. He figured if he could get a project done in less than five trips, it was worth it before calling a pro! While I don't share his viewpoint, the key takeaway is that your time has a value, and you can waste a whole lot it if a seemingly simple project gets the best of you!

The chapters in Parts 2 through 5 contain many of the most common small and medium-size maintenance tasks that you can tackle yourself. And when a task really should be left to a pro, I tell you that, too.

#### From inside to outside

Homes are complicated. They have many components and systems that need to be monitored and maintained. (See Chapter 2.) Inside, the systems include plumbing, electrical, and heating/air conditioning. Plus, you've got the foundation, structural framing, walls, floors, appliances, countertops, cabinets, sinks, bathtubs, fireplaces, and more to care for. It sounds like a lot (and it is), but you can find all the details you need in Parts 2, 3, and 4.

Outside, the components that require attention include windows and doors, roof, chimney, garage door, concrete, masonry, and siding. The key thing to know about problems on the outside of your home is that if you don't attend to them, they can become problems on the *inside*, too. That's why I devote entire sections of Chapters, 5, 6 and 16 to helping you prevent and address problems outside.

#### **Benefiting from a Little TLC**

There are five major benefits to maintaining your home well:

- >> Improved safety
- >> Increased comfort
- >> Enhanced home value
- >> Money savings
- >> Energy efficiency

Here's what this list tells you: that home maintenance literally pays off. To put it another way, these five big benefits prove that an ounce of prevention really is worth a pound of cure. And, as you'll soon discover, those are words to live by when it comes to your home.

#### To your health (and safety)

A poorly cared-for home is not just an aesthetic problem — it can hurt you:

- A poorly maintained furnace can leak deadly carbon monoxide gas, a leading cause of poisoning deaths in the United States.
- A smoke detector with a dead battery doesn't work it's literally playing with fire.
- A clogged gutter can lead to cracked foundations, flooded basements, and the growth of toxic mold.
- An air-conditioning system that fails in the heat of summer or a furnace that takes a hiatus in the worst of winter can lead to extreme indoor temperatures, which can be dangerous.
- A rotted subfloor can result in an unexpected visit to the floor below complete with bumps, cuts, bruises, and maybe a trip to the hospital.

Simple home maintenance can prevent these disasters and make your house a safer place to live for you and your family. For example, replacing your smoke detector with a new ten-year model that never needs a new battery takes 15 minutes and could prevent you from losing your home, a pet, or a loved one, not to mention years of those annoying low-battery chirps!